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I. NATURE AND STAGE OF THE PROCEEDINGS 

Relator Robin White (“Relator”) commenced this action on June 21, 2013, by filing a qui 

tam Complaint pursuant to the False Claims Act (“FCA”), 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729-3733.  (D.I. 2.)  

The United States intervened and filed a Complaint in Intervention on September 26, 2017.  (D.I. 

28, 29.)  The same day, the Court directed the government to serve its Complaint on Defendants 

Orthopaedic and Neuro Imaging (“ONI”) and Richard Pfarr (“Pfarr”).  (D.I. 30.)   

Defendants, through counsel, each signed a Waiver of the Service of Summons, pursuant 

to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 4(d), and the government filed the completed waiver forms on 

October 17, 2017.  (D.I. 34, 35.)  Defendants’ response was due on November 27, 2017.  Neither 

Defendant responded.  Accordingly, on December 27, 2017, the government requested the Clerk 

of Court to enter default.  (D.I. 36.)  The Clerk entered default against Defendants on January 5, 

2018.  (D.I. 37.)  To date, Defendants have failed to answer or otherwise respond.1 

II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Defendants violated the FCA when they submitted claims to Medicare for MRI services, 

knowing that the claims were not entitled to be paid.  The amount of damages is set by statute 

and is thus capable of ascertainment by the Court.  The Court should grant default judgment.   

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS  

Once a default is entered, the defaulting parties have no right to dispute liability; and on a 

motion for default judgment, the well-pled facts in the Complaint relating to liability are taken as 

true.  Comdyne I, Inc. v. Corbin, 908 F.2d 1142, 1149 (3d Cir. 1990).   

A. Medicare Background 

Medicare is a federal health insurance program for people 65 and older and for people 

                                                 
1 On December 13, 2017, an attorney representing Defendants advised the government that 

Defendants had decided not to undertake any further defense of this action.   
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under 65 with certain disabilities.  Medicare is administered through the Centers for Medicare 

and Medicaid Services (“CMS”), and administration is further delegated to government 

contractors.  (D.I. 29 (“Gov’t Compl.”) at ¶ 7.)   

In order to bill Medicare for services provided to Medicare beneficiaries, health care 

providers must submit an enrollment application.  Medicare, through its administrative 

contractor, evaluates the representations and certifications in the enrollment application and 

determines whether to permit the provider to enroll.  Once a provider is approved, it can bill 

Medicare and receive payment.  (Id. at ¶ 8.)   

To obtain payment for the services they provide to Medicare beneficiaries, Medicare-

enrolled providers file “claims” with the Medicare administrative contractor.  The basic 

requirement for a claim to be payable by Medicare is that the service must be “reasonable and 

necessary for the diagnosis or treatment of illness or injury.”  42 U.S.C. § 1395y(a)(1)(A).  (Id. at 

¶ 10.)  

When submitting claims to Medicare, providers use payment codes corresponding to the 

services they provided.  These codes are commonly referred to as “Current Procedural 

Terminology” or “CPT” codes.  By submitting claims using CPT codes, providers represent to 

Medicare that they have provided the services corresponding to the codes.  (Id. at ¶ 11.)   

Medicare authorizes providers called “independent diagnostic testing facilities,” or 

“IDTFs” to perform and bill for magnetic resonance imaging (“MRI”) tests on Medicare 

beneficiaries.  (Id. at ¶ 15.)  But it deems those tests to be “reasonable and necessary,” and thus 

reimbursable by Medicare, only if a physician supervises the procedure according to the 

standards established by Medicare.  By definition, a test performed without the appropriate level 

of physician supervision is not “reasonable and necessary,” and therefore not payable by 
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Medicare.  42 C.F.R. § 410.32(b)  (Id. at ¶ 12.) 

For diagnostic tests that involve some inherent risk of harm to the patient—including 

MRI scans involving injection of contrast media to which the patient may have an adverse or 

allergic reaction—Medicare requires IDTFs to provide “direct supervision” of the procedure.  

Direct supervision means that a physician has to be “in the office suite and immediately available 

to furnish assistance and direction” in the event of an adverse reaction.  42 C.F.R. 

§ 410.32(b)(3)(ii).  CMS publishes a Medicare Physician Fee Schedule Database that contains a 

listing of all diagnostic procedures that require direct supervision by a physician.  (Id. at ¶ 14.)  

An IDTF’s compliance with the direct supervision requirement is material to Medicare’s 

decision to pay for contrast MRI procedures.  (Id. at ¶ 18.)   

To enroll in the Medicare program and thus be entitled to bill Medicare, an IDTF has 

always been required to list “all supervising physician(s)” that it intends to use and provide 

information to Medicare about the physician supervisors’ qualifications.  See, e.g., Medicare 

Enrollment Application, Clinics/Group Practices and Certain Other Suppliers, 

http://www.cms.hhs.gov/CMSforms/downloads/cms855b.pdf, at 35, 46-47 (last visited Aug. 7, 

2017); see also 42 C.F.R. § 410.33(b)(2) (IDTFs must “evidence proficiency” of supervising 

physicians).  Furthermore, each supervising physician must “certify” to the Medicare 

administrative contractor the identity of each of the test types that s/he is going to supervise for 

the IDTF.  If any changes are made to the supervisory physician staff, the IDTF certifies that it 

will notify the Medicare administrative contractor of this change within 30 or 90 days, depending 

on the type of change.  (Id. at ¶ 19.)   

IDTFs must also agree in the Medicare enrollment application to comply with all 

Medicare program instructions.  IDTFs must acknowledge that all such instructions are available 
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from the Medicare contractor and that payment is contingent upon compliance with all 

applicable laws, regulations and program instructions.  (Id. at ¶ 20.)   

B. ONI Lewes 

Defendant Orthopaedic and Neuro Imaging LLC (“ONI”) is a private Delaware limited 

liability company formed in 2002.  ONI operates four IDTF locations in Delaware and Maryland, 

which perform MRI services.  (Id. at ¶¶ 5, 23, 37, 48, 57.)  ONI is owned by Defendant Pfarr and 

his wife, and Pfarr is the President.  (Id. at ¶ 6.)  

ONI opened its first location in Lewes, Delaware in 2002.  Between October 2002 and 

continuing through July 2014, employees at ONI’s Lewes office injected hundreds of Medicare 

beneficiaries with contrast material during the performance of contrast MRI procedures.  

However, except for a short period of time in 2012, ONI provided no direct physician 

supervision of contrast MRI procedures performed in its Lewes office.  ONI and Pfarr 

nevertheless submitted claims for those procedures and received payment from Medicare.  (Id. at 

¶¶ 23-36.)   

The allegations in the government’s Complaint establish that Defendants knew about the 

supervision requirement when Pfarr enrolled ONI in Medicare in 2002, and they knew that ONI 

was not in compliance.  Pfarr signed ONI’s Medicare enrollment application and required 

certifications as President and “Authorized Official” of ONI.  Those certifications, which were 

set forth in all of the enrollment forms submitted by ONI and Pfarr, included the following: 

 “My signature legally and financially binds this supplier to the laws, regulations, 

and program instructions of the Medicare program.” 

 “I agree to abide by the Medicare laws, regulations and program instructions that 

apply to this supplier. The Medicare laws, regulations and program instructions 

are available through the Medicare contractor.” 

 “I understand that payment of a claim by Medicare is conditioned upon the claim 

and the underlying transaction complying with such laws, regulations and 

program instructions . . . .” 
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 “I agree to notify the Medicare contractor of any future changes to the 

information” contained in the application within 90 days (or 30 days for certain 

types of changes). 

 “I will not knowingly present or cause to be presented a false or fraudulent claim 

for payment by Medicare . . . .” 

 “[I] will not submit claims with deliberate ignorance or reckless disregard of their 

truth or falsity.”  

 

The certifications put Pfarr and ONI on notice that they needed to comply with regulations or 

Medicare would not pay the claims. (Id. ¶¶ 25, 26.)   

 Despite knowing that unsupervised contrast MRI scans were not entitled to be paid, ONI 

and Pfarr began billing for them soon after ONI Lewes opened its doors in 2002.  (Id. at ¶ 26.)  

In or around 2007, Relator White—who at the time worked at ONI in Lewes—asked Pfarr if 

ONI was in compliance with the direct supervision requirement.  Pfarr lied and told White that 

Dr. Charles Stanislav, a general practice physician who had an office near ONI, was ONI’s 

supervising physician.  But in an interview with government investigators, Dr. Stanislav denied 

supervising any procedures for ONI or even being present in ONI’s office suite during 

procedures.  He further denied knowing that he was ONI’s supervising physician.  (Id. at ¶¶ 27, 

34.)   

Documents obtained during the government’s investigation evidence ONI’s and Pfarr’s 

knowledge of ONI’s non-compliance in Lewes, as well as their knowledge that the government 

considered the supervision requirement to be material.  In an e-mail dated January 5, 2012, Pfarr 

acknowledged ONI’s non-compliance, stating, “ONI was just informed that we have to 

revalidate all three facility’s [sic], which means we re-submit all documents . . . A problem we 

need to address is designating radiologists as Direct Supervision – meaning they must be present 

in the office suite & immediately available to provide assistance throughout the performance of 

the procedure . . . .”  (Id. at ¶ 28.)  One week later, on January 12, 2012, ONI’s third-party billing 
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service notified Pfarr that “[t]he government will clearly be reviewing supervision in regards to 

IDTFs” and that “we should talk about this in the near future.”  Pfarr responded that he “may 

have to punt on removing [Relator] Robin [White] from ONI until we can figure out how best to 

comply!”  (Id. at ¶ 29.)   

Shortly thereafter, on or about February 3, 2012, ONI submitted an application to re-

enroll its Lewes office location in Medicare. The application listed Dr. Robert Platenberg as the 

direct supervision physician.  Pfarr signed the enrollment application and required certifications.  

Subsequently, between approximately February 2012 and June 2012, Pfarr arranged to have Dr. 

Platenberg (who lived out of state) present in ONI’s Lewes office on Thursdays to supervise 

contrast MRI procedures.  (Id. at ¶ 30.)  See also Exhibit A (Declaration of Special Agent Paul 

Rich) at ¶ 4.   

Dr. Platenberg stopped directly supervising at the Lewes office before July 2012, and 

Pfarr knew it.  But ONI and Pfarr did not hire a replacement or notify Medicare that Dr. 

Platenberg was no longer supervising.  Starting in July 2012, ONI continued to perform and bill 

for contrast MRI procedures on Medicare beneficiaries at its Lewes office, but ONI provided no 

direct physician supervision.  (Gov’t Compl. at ¶ 31.)  See also Exhibit A at ¶ 4. 

On or about November 5, 2013, ONI submitted a form to Medicare indicating that ONI 

had changed its direct supervising physician at the Lewes office from Dr. Platenberg to Dr. 

Charles Stanislav, effective November 1, 2013.  Pfarr signed the form and the required 

certifications.  At or around the same time, ONI created a written agreement under which Dr. 

Stanislav would purportedly provide “on-site” supervision of contrast MRI procedures at ONI’s 

Lewes office.  Under the agreement, ONI was to provide Dr. Stanislav’s Administrator with a 

schedule of contrast patients each week and would pay Dr. Stanislav a fee of $20.00 “per patient 
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exam” or $150.00 “[i]n the event that the supervising physician is needed to evaluate a patient.”  

Pfarr signed the agreement on behalf of ONI.  (Id. at ¶¶ 32, 33.)   

The government’s investigation uncovered that ONI’s written agreement with Dr. 

Stanislav in 2013 was a sham created to conceal the fact that ONI did not provide direct 

supervision at its Lewes location.  Dr. Stanislav told investigators that he was never present in 

ONI’s office suite during contrast MRI procedures.  ONI never provided Dr. Stanislav or his 

employees with a schedule of contrast patients as required by the agreement.  ONI never paid Dr. 

Stanislav pursuant to the agreement.  Dr. Stanislav also told investigators that he was unaware 

that the supervision agreement with ONI had even commenced, since Pfarr never notified him 

that ONI was giving contrast injections.  (Id. at ¶ 34.)   

Between July 1, 2003 (ten years prior to Relator’s June 21, 2013 Complaint2) and June 

30, 2014 (just before the government’s investigation went overt), excluding the first two quarters 

of 2012 (spanning the time period when Dr. Platenberg supervised in Lewes), ONI filed 1,585 

claims with Medicare for contrast MRI procedures performed in its Lewes office, totaling 

$995,305.79.  See Exhibit A at ¶ 7, Attachment 1.  (See also Gov’t Compl. at ¶ 35.) 

C. ONI Seaford 

In or around January 2005, ONI opened another office location in Seaford, Delaware.  

Beginning in January 2005 and continuing through July 2014, employees at ONI’s Seaford office 

injected hundreds of Medicare beneficiaries with contrast material during the performance of 

contrast MRI procedures.  However, except for a short period of time in 2012, ONI provided no 

direct physician supervision of contrast MRI procedures performed in its Seaford Office.  (Id. at 

¶ 37.)   

                                                 
2 As set forth below, the limitations period for the FCA claim against ONI is ten years.   
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As described above, ONI and Pfarr knew that unsupervised contrast MRI scans were not 

entitled to be paid.  They nevertheless began billing Medicare for unsupervised scans soon after 

ONI Seaford opened its doors in 2005.  (Id.) 

Like they had done in Lewes, ONI and Pfarr falsified Medicare enrollment forms in order 

to conceal ONI’s non-compliance.  In or around March 2009, ONI submitted an application to 

Medicare to reactivate the enrollment for the Seaford office.  Although ONI’s application stated 

that it would perform contrast MRI studies, it failed to list a physician for provision of direct 

supervision.  The Medicare administrative contractor informed ONI that, in order to complete 

processing of the enrollment application, ONI needed to identify a supervising physician “with 

the appropriate Supervision” for each type of test it proposed to perform.  On or about April 28, 

2009, ONI submitted amended enrollment paperwork indicating that Dr. Robert Platenberg 

provided direct supervision at ONI’s Seaford office.  Pfarr signed the enrollment application and 

required certifications for ONI’s Seaford office. (Id. at ¶ 39.) 

ONI’s enrollment application listing Platenberg as the direct supervising physician was 

materially false.  In fact, ONI had never provided supervision of contrast MRI procedures in its 

Seaford office and Pfarr had no intent at that time to use Dr. Platenberg (who lived out of state) 

to provide direct supervision.    (Id.) 

On or about the same day, Pfarr sent the Medicare administrative contractor a schedule of 

dates “assigned” in May 2009 for Dr. Platenberg to directly supervise contrast scans in ONI’s 

Seaford office.  Pfarr’s letter was fraudulent.  Dr. Platenberg told government investigators that 

he did not provide direct supervision at ONI’s Seaford office in 2009, nor was he “assigned” to 

do so by ONI or Pfarr.  (Id. at ¶ 40.)   

In or around February 2012, shortly after being notified that the government was 
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investigating IDTF compliance with supervision requirements, ONI submitted an application to 

re-enroll its Seaford office in Medicare.  The application stated that Platenberg would provide 

direct supervision.  Between approximately February 2012 and July 2012, Pfarr arranged to have 

Dr. Platenberg present in ONI’s Seaford office on Fridays to supervise contrast MRI procedures 

for Medicare beneficiaries.  During this period, ONI scheduled Medicare beneficiaries 

undergoing contrast MRI procedures at its Seaford office for Fridays.  (Id. at 41.) 

Dr. Platenberg stopped directly supervising in Seaford before July 2012, and Pfarr knew 

it.  ONI and Pfarr did not hire a replacement or notify Medicare that Dr. Platenberg was no 

longer supervising.  After July 2012, ONI continued to perform and bill for contrast MRI 

procedures on Medicare beneficiaries in Seaford, but ONI provided no direct supervision.  (Id. at 

¶ 42.)  See also Exhibit A at ¶ 4. 

On or about November 5, 2013, ONI submitted a form indicating that ONI had changed 

its direct supervising physician from Dr. Platenberg to Dr. Ivonne Herrera, effective November 

1, 2013.  That representation was materially false.  In fact, ONI had not provided direct 

supervision of contrast MRI procedures in its Seaford office since approximately July 2012 and 

Pfarr had no intent to use Dr. Herrera to provide direct supervision of contrast MRI procedures.  

Pfarr signed the form and the required certifications.  (Gov’t Compl. at ¶ 43.) 

At or around the same time, ONI created a written agreement with Dr. Herrera in Seaford 

similar to the one with Dr. Stanislav in Lewes.  According to the agreement, Dr. Herrera would 

provide “on-site” supervision of contrast MRI procedures at ONI’s Seaford office.  ONI would 

provide Dr. Herrera a fee of $20.00 “per patient exam” or $150.00 “[i]n the event that the 

supervising physician is needed to evaluate a patient.”  Pfarr signed the agreement on behalf of 

ONI.  (Id. at ¶ 44.) 
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Like its agreement with Dr. Stanislav, ONI’s written agreement with Dr. Herrera was a 

sham created to conceal the fact that ONI did not provide direct physician supervision of contrast 

MRI procedures performed at its Seaford office.  Dr. Herrera told government investigators that 

she was never present in ONI’s office suite during contrast MRI procedures.  Moreover, ONI 

never paid Dr. Herrera pursuant to the agreement.  (Id. at ¶ 45.) 

Between January 1, 2005 (when the Seaford office opened) and June 30, 2014 (just 

before the government’s investigation went overt), excluding the first two quarters of 2012 

(spanning the time period when Dr. Platenberg supervised in Seaford), ONI filed 342 claims with 

Medicare for contrast MRI procedures performed in its Seaford office, totaling $197,248.64.  See 

Exhibit A at ¶ 8, Attachment 1.  (See also Gov’t Compl. at ¶ 46.)  

D. ONI Millsboro 

In 2008, Defendant ONI opened another office in Millsboro, Delaware.  Beginning in 

October 2008 and continuing through July 2014, employees at ONI’s Millsboro office injected 

hundreds of Medicare beneficiaries with contrast material during the performance of contrast 

MRI procedures.  However, ONI generally provided no direct physician supervision of contrast 

MRI procedures performed in its Millsboro Office.  ONI and Pfarr nevertheless submitted or 

caused to be submitted claims for those procedures to Medicare.  (Gov’t Compl. at ¶ 48.) 

Like they had done in Lewes and Seaford, ONI and Pfarr falsified Medicare enrollment 

forms in order to conceal ONI’s non-compliance.  In or around November 2008, ONI submitted 

an application to Medicare to enroll its Millsboro office.  The application did not list a physician 

for provision of direct supervision.  On December 1, 2008, the Medicare administrative 

contractor informed ONI that, in order to process its enrollment application, ONI needed to 

identify a supervising physician “with the appropriate Supervision” for each type of test it 

proposed to perform.  On or about December 15, 2008, ONI submitted amended enrollment 
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paperwork indicating that Joseph Inzinna would provide direct supervision.  Pfarr signed the 

enrollment application and required certifications for ONI’s Millsboro office.  (Id. at ¶ 49.)   

That enrollment form was materially false.  Dr. Inzinna told government investigators 

that he did not provide direct supervision at ONI’s Millsboro office, nor has he ever even visited 

that office.  ONI continued to perform and bill for contrast MRI scans from October 2008 until 

February 2012.  (Id. at ¶¶ 49, 50.)  

In or around February 2012, shortly after being notified that the government was 

investigating IDTF compliance with supervision requirements, ONI generally stopped 

performing contrast MRI procedures to Medicare beneficiaries at its Millsboro office.  (Id. at 

¶ 51.)  

In or around November 2013, ONI created a sham supervision agreement with Dr. Fadi 

Damouni for the Millsboro location.  Once again, Pfarr signed the agreement on behalf of ONI.  

Like the others, this agreement was a sham created to conceal the fact that ONI did not provide 

direct physician supervision of contrast MRI procedures performed at its Millsboro office.  Dr. 

Damouni told investigators that he was never present in ONI’s office suite during contrast MRI 

procedures.  ONI never provided Dr. Damouni or his employees with a schedule of contrast 

patients as required by the agreement.  ONI never paid Dr. Damouni pursuant to the agreement.  

Moreover, Dr. Damouni was unaware that the supervision agreement with ONI had commenced 

until one of his own patients underwent a contrast MRI procedure in or around July 2014.  (Id. at 

¶¶ 53, 54.)  

Between the fourth quarter of 2008 (when the Millsboro office opened) and June 30, 

2014 (just before the government’s investigation went overt), ONI filed 226 claims with 

Medicare for contrast MRI procedures performed in its Millsboro office, totaling $111,995.12.  
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See Exhibit A at ¶ 9, Attachment 1.   (See also Gov’t Compl. at ¶ 55.) 

E. ONI Salisbury 

In 2012, Defendant ONI opened an office in Salisbury, Maryland.  Beginning in June 

2012 and continuing through July 2014, employees at ONI’s Salisbury office injected Medicare 

beneficiaries with contrast material during the performance of contrast MRI procedures.  

However, ONI generally provided no direct physician supervision of contrast MRI procedures 

performed in its Salisbury Office.  ONI and Richard Pfarr nevertheless submitted or caused to be 

submitted claims for those tests to Medicare.  (Gov’t Compl. at ¶ 57.) 

ONI and Pfarr also falsified the Medicare enrollment form for the Salisbury office.  The 

form listed Dr. Donald Wood as the physician providing direct supervising physician.  Pfarr 

signed the enrollment application and required certifications.  However, ONI and Pfarr had no 

intent to use Dr. Wood to provide direct supervision of contrast MRI procedures.  ONI and Pfarr 

also created a sham supervision agreement for its Salisbury location.  (Id. at ¶¶ 58-60.)   

Between June 2012 (when the Salisbury office opened) and June 30, 2014 (just before the 

government’s investigation went overt), ONI filed 72 claims with Medicare for contrast MRI 

procedures performed in its Salisbury office, totaling $23,980.91.  See Exhibit A at ¶ 10, 

Attachment 1.  (See also Gov’t Compl. at ¶ 61.)   

IV. ARGUMENT 

 

Once default has been entered by the Clerk of Court under Rule 55(a), the plaintiff may 

apply to the court for default judgment under Rule 55(b).  J & J Sports Prod., Inc. v. Kim, No. 14-

1170, 2016 WL 1238223, at *1 (D. Del. Mar. 29, 2016); Fed. R. Civ. Proc. 55.  At this stage, the 

factual allegations set forth in the complaint must be taken as true, except those related to the 

amount of damages.  Comdyne, 908 F.2d at 1149. 
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As to damages, the Court must make a determination of the sum to be awarded, which may 

be based on affidavits or documentary evidence.  See Fed. R. Civ. Proc. 55(b); United States v. Di 

Mucci, 879 F.2d 1488, 1497 (7th Cir. 1989) (explaining that a default judgment may be entered 

without an evidentiary hearing on damages so long as the amount of damages is “capable of 

ascertainment from definite figures contained in the documentary evidence or in detailed 

affidavits”); Eastern Elec. Corp. of New Jersey v. Shoemaker Const. Co., 652 F. Supp. 2d 599 

(E.D. Pa. 2009) (“The Court is under no requirement to conduct an evidentiary hearing with 

testimony, but, rather, such a hearing may be one in which the court asks the parties to submit 

affidavits and other materials from which the court can decide the issue.” (internal marks and 

citation omitted)). 

The well-pled allegations of the Complaint establish that Defendants are liable under the 

FCA.  Defendants’ damages are calculated according to statute, and are thus capable of 

ascertainment from the affidavit submitted with the government’s motion.  See United States v. 

TXL Mortg. Corp., Civ. A. No. 15-1658 (JEB), 2016 WL 5108019, at *1-3 (D.D.C. Sept. 20, 2016) 

(entering default judgment in favor of the United States on FCA claim based on government’s 

submission of affidavit supporting its damages claim).  Accordingly, entry of default judgment 

under Rule 55(b) is appropriate.   

A. The allegations in the government’s Complaint establish liability 

under the FCA. 

The government requests default judgment on Count One, which alleges a violation of 31 

U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A) (formerly § 3729(a)(1)).  That section imposes civil liability on “any 

person who . . . knowingly presents, or causes to be presented, a false or fraudulent claim for 

payment or approval.”  § 3729(a)(1)(A).   
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A violation of § 3729(a)(1)(A) has four elements: (1) the defendant presented or caused 

to be presented a claim for payment; (2) the claim was false or fraudulent; (3) the defendant 

knew the claim was false or fraudulent,” United States ex rel. Wilkins v. United Health Group, 

Inc., 659 F.3d 295, 304-05 (3d Cir. 2011); and (4) the misrepresentation was “material to the 

government’s payment decision,”  Universal Health Servs., Inc. v. United States ex rel. Escobar, 

136 S. Ct. 1989, 1996 (2016).  See also United States ex rel. Spay v. CVS Caremark Corp., 875 

F.3d 746, 761-63 (3d Cir. 2017) (holding that the elements of § 3729(a)(1)(A) and former 

§ 3729(a)(1) (pre-2009) are the same).   

The well-pled allegations in the Government’s Complaint satisfy each of those elements.  

1. Defendants presented or caused to be presented claims for 

payment. 

Medicare claims are “claims” under the FCA.3   See, e.g., Wilkins, 659 F.3d 295, 307, 

313-14 (allegation that defendant submitted false Medicare claims stated an FCA claim, citing 

cases).  Defendant ONI’s submission of claims for payment to Medicare for contrast MRI 

services satisfies this first element.  (Gov’t Compl. at ¶¶ 35-36, 46-47, 55-56, 61.)   

Defendant Pfarr also satisfies this element because he “cause[d]” ONI to submit claims to 

Medicare.  (Id.)  31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A); see also United States ex rel. Marcus v. Hess, 317 

U.S. 537, 544-45 (1943) (“[The FCA] provisions, considered together, indicate a purpose to 

reach any person who knowingly assisted in causing the government to pay claims which were 

                                                 
3 Under the FCA, the term “claim” includes “any request or demand, whether under a contract or 

otherwise, for money or property and whether or not the United States has title to the money or 

property, that— (i) is presented to an officer, employee, or agent of the United States; or (ii) is made 

to a contractor . . . if the money or property is to be spent or used on the Government’s behalf or to 

advance a Government program or interest, and if the United States Government . . . (I) provides or 

has provided any portion of the money or property requested or demanded; or (II) will reimburse 

such contractor, grantee, or other recipient for any portion of the money or property which is 

requested or demanded . . . .”  31 U.S.C. § 3729(b)(2). 
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grounded in fraud, without regard to whether that person had direct contractual relations with the 

government.”); United States ex rel. Schmidt v. Zimmer, Inc., 386 F.3d 235, 242-44 (3d Cir. 

2004) (holding that an individual defendant may be liable under the FCA even though an entity 

submitted the false claim).    

2. The claims were false.  

A claim can be “false” within the meaning of the FCA under multiple legal theories.  See, 

e.g., Wilkins, 659 F.3d at 305-07 (describing theories).  Under the “implied false certification” 

theory, a defendant is liable for presenting (or causing the presenting of) a claim to the 

government without disclosing that it violated regulations that affected its eligibility for 

payment.  Escobar, 136 S. Ct. at 2000-01 (adopting the implied false certification theory of FCA 

liability); see also Wilkins, 659 F.3d at 305-06.  According to this theory, the submission of 

claims for payment using CPT codes that correspond to specific medical services amounts to a 

representation that those services were provided in compliance with statutory, regulatory, and 

contractual requirements.   Escobar, 136 S. Ct. at 2000-01.  If those requirements were not 

complied with, the claims are “false” within the meaning of the FCA.  Id.   

Here, ONI and Pfarr submitted (and caused the submission of) Medicare claims for 

specific contrast MRI services using CPT codes, despite the fact that those services did not 

comply with statutory and regulatory requirements for direct physician supervision.  (Gov’t 

Compl. at ¶¶ 11, 14, 17, 35-36, 46-47, 55-56, 61.)  Under the implied false certification theory, 

those claims were false.4 

                                                 
4 Many of the claims are also false under a fraud-in-the-inducement theory.  Under that theory, 

the FCA is violated if claims for payment are submitted to the government under a contract 

initially caused by fraud, even if the claims themselves are not fraudulent.  United States ex rel. 

Thomas v. Siemens AG, 593 Fed. App’x 139, 143 (3d Cir. 2014); In re Baycol Prods. Litig., 732 

F.3d 869, 876 (8th Cir. 2013); United States ex rel. Longhi v. Lithium Power Techs., Inc., 575 

F.3d 458, 467–68 (5th Cir. 2009); Smith v. Carolina Med. Ctr., No. 11-2756, 2017 WL 3310694, 
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3. Defendants knew the claims were false.  

“Knowledge” under the FCA is defined by statute, and means either (i) “actual 

knowledge,” (ii) “deliberate ignorance,” or (iii) “reckless disregard.”  31 U.S.C. § 3729(b)(1).  

Specific intent to defraud is not required.  Id.  

The Complaint alleges that Defendant Pfarr had actual knowledge of the direct 

supervision requirement and actual knowledge that ONI was violating it.  (Gov’t Compl. at 

¶¶ 26, 35, 46, 55, 61)  Indeed, not only has the United States pled Pfarr’s scienter generally (as it 

is permitted to do under the Rules, Fed. R. Civ. Proc. 9(b)) but it has pled facts—gleaned from 

Medicare enrollment forms, witness interviews, and ONI documents—that establish Pfarr’s 

knowledge.  (Id. at ¶¶ 24-36, 39-45, 49-55, 58-61.)  This was not a mistake or a 

misunderstanding: Pfarr knew the rules, he knew that ONI was violating them, he lied to 

Medicare to try to get around them, and he created sham physician supervision agreements as a 

cover.   

 The scienter element is also satisfied for Defendant ONI because Pfarr’s knowledge is 

imputed to ONI.  See, e.g., Grand Union Co. v. United States, 696 F.2d 888, 891 (11th Cir. 

1983) (holding in an FCA case that employee’s knowledge is imputed to a corporation when the 

employee acts for the benefit of the corporation and within the scope of his employment); 

Higgins v. Shenango Pottery Co., 256 F.2d 504, 509 (3d Cir. 1958) (“[I]t is a rule of agency that 

the knowledge of the agent is imputed to the principal in connection with any transaction 

                                                 

*5-7 (E.D. Pa. Aug. 2, 2017) (holding that false statements in Medicare enrollment forms can 

create FCA liability under a fraudulent inducement theory).  Here, Medicare told ONI and Pfarr 

that ONI could not enroll MRI locations without listing a direct supervising physician on its 

enrollment form; otherwise, ONI could not file claims for contrast MRI procedures.  (Gov’t 

Compl. at ¶¶ 39-40, 49.)  Faced with this obstacle, Pfarr lied on the enrollment forms about 

having direct supervising physicians.  (Id.)  ONI’s subsequent claims for contrast MRI 

procedures were therefore false.  
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conducted by the agent in behalf of his principal.”). 

4. Defendants’ misrepresentations were material. 

When a claim under § 3729(a)(1)(A) is based on non-compliance “with a statutory, 

regulatory, or contractual requirement,” the requirement “must be material to the Government’s 

payment decision in order to be actionable under the False Claims Act.”  Escobar, 136 S. Ct. at 

1996.  Materiality is satisfied (i) if a reasonable person would attach importance to the false 

representation in determining his or her choice of action in the transaction; or (ii) if the defendant 

knew or had reason to know that the recipient of the representation would attach importance to 

the specific matter in determining his or her choice of action.  Id. at 2002-03.  The government’s 

decision to expressly identify a statutory or regulatory requirement as a condition of payment is 

evidence of materiality.  Id. at 2003.  As is evidence that the defendant knows that the 

government will refuse to pay based on non-compliance with the requirement.  Id. 

 Here, the government’s Complaint—which must be taken as true—alleges that the direct 

supervision requirement was material to Medicare’s decision to pay for contrast MRI services.  

(Gov’t Compl. at ¶ 18.)  The Complaint also alleges specific facts that establish materiality.  As 

explained above, Medicare statutes and regulations make clear that the direct supervision 

requirement is a condition of payment.  (Id. at ¶¶ 12, 14.)  The facts also show that Pfarr knew 

that Medicare attached specific importance to compliance with this requirement.  Pfarr was 

aware that the government was investigating IDTFs for failure to provide appropriate 

supervision.  (Id. at ¶ 28-29, 41.)  In addition, when Pfarr tried to enroll ONI’s Seaford and 

Millsboro offices in Medicare, Medicare told him that ONI could not bill for MRI procedures 

requiring direct supervision unless it amended its enrollment form to identify the direct 

supervising physician.  (Pfarr later lied on the form and also provided Medicare a false 

supervision “schedule.”)  (Gov’t Compl. at ¶¶ 39-40, 49.)  Then, after learning that the 
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government was investigating MRI providers for non-compliance with the supervision 

requirement, Pfarr created sham supervision agreements with physicians.  (Id. at ¶¶ 33-34, 44-45, 

53-54, 59-60.)   

In short, the facts show that Pfarr (and therefore ONI) was well aware that the 

government attached “particular importance” to the supervision requirement and would not pay 

if it was not complied with.  See Escobar, 136 S. Ct. at 2002-03 (requirement is “material” if the 

defendant knows that the government would refuse to pay based on noncompliance).  The 

materiality element is satisfied. 

B. The treble damages and civil penalties sought by the government are 

capable of ascertainment by the Court. 

The amount of damages in an FCA case is set by statute and is therefore capable of 

ascertainment by the Court without the need for an evidentiary hearing.  Once the Government 

establishes liability, the FCA mandates that the Court award treble damages and not less than 

$5,500 in civil penalties for each false claim.  31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1).5   

In FCA cases involving Medicare—where the beneficiary is a third-party, not the 

government itself—the single damages are the entire amount the government paid for the false 

claims.  United States v. Rogan, 517 F.3d 449, 453 (7th Cir. 2008) (holding that FCA damages 

for Medicare claims were the full amount of the claims); see also United States v. Sci. 

Applications Intern. Corp., 626 F.3d 1257, 1280 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (“[W]here the defendant 

fraudulently sought payments for participating in programs designed to benefit third-parties 

rather than the government itself, the government can easily establish that it received nothing of 

                                                 
5 Pursuant to the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990, as amended by the 

Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1996, 28 U.S.C. § 2461 (notes), and 64 Fed. Reg. 47099, 

47103 (1999), the FCA civil penalties were adjusted to a range of $5,500 to $11,000 per 

violation for violations occurring on or after September 29, 1999. 
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value from the defendant and that all payments made are therefore recoverable as damages.”); 

United States ex rel. Longhi v. Lithium Power Techs., Inc., 575 F.3d 458, 473 (5th Cir. 2009) 

(calculating damages as the amount the government paid to the defendants where “[t]he contracts 

entered . . . did not produce a tangible benefit” to the government). 

The single damages in this case are therefore the full value of the payments Medicare 

made to ONI for contrast MRI services that were not properly supervised by a physician between 

July 1, 2003 (ten years prior to Relator’s June 23, 2013 Complaint against ONI6) and June 30, 

2014, which is $1,328,530.46.  See Exhibit A at ¶¶ 7-11, Attachment 1.  Trebling that figure 

yields $3,985,591.38.  (Id.)  The Court is also statutorily required to award a minimum of $5,500 

per false claim in civil penalties.  ONI submitted a total of 2,225 claims for contrast MRI 

services that were not properly supervised during the relevant time period, which yields a total of 

$12,237,500 in civil penalties.  (Id.)  The total recovery against ONI is $3,985,591.38 + 

$12,237,500 = $16,223,091.38.  (Id.)   

Defendant Pfarr is jointly and severally liable with ONI under the FCA.  See Mortgages, 

Inc. v. U.S. District Court, 934 F.2d 209, 212 (9th Cir.1991); United States v. Cooperative Grain 

& Supply Co., 476 F.2d 47, 64 (8th Cir.1973) (individual and corporation jointly and severally 

liable under FCA for the total treble damages and civil penalties); United States v. Kates, 419 F. 

Supp. 846, 854–55 (E.D. Pa. 1976).  Pfarr was not added as a defendant until the government 

filed its Complaint in September 2017 but he signed tolling agreements that excluded the time 

                                                 
6 There is a ten-year limitations period for FCA actions in which the government intervenes 

when the government did not know about the allegations more than three years prior to the 

Relator’s Complaint.   31 U.S.C. § 3731(b)(2); United States ex rel. Sansbury v. LB & B Assocs., 

Inc., 58 F. Supp. 3d 37, 47-52 (D.D.C. 2014); Exhibit A at ¶ 2.  Moreover, the Government’s 

Complaint in Intervention relates back to the date of the Relator’s Complaint because they arise 

out of the same conduct.  31 U.S.C. § 3731(c); Sansbury, 58 F. Supp. 3d at 47-52.  (D.I. 1, 29.)  
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after September 23, 2016 from the limitations period.  See Exhibits B, C, D.  Accordingly, giving 

Pfarr the benefit of the minimum six-year limitations period, 31 U.S.C. § 3731(b)(1), the single 

damages against Pfarr are the total of the unsupervised contrast MRI payments between October 

1, 2010 (six years prior when Pfarr was named as a defendant on September 23, 2016) and June 

30, 2014.  That total is $426,815.71, which is trebled to $1,280,447.13.   See Exhibit A at ¶ 12, 

Attachment 2.  ONI submitted a total of 881 claims for improperly supervised services during 

that period, yielding $4,845,500 in statutorily-required civil penalties.  (Id.)  Thus, Pfarr is jointly 

and severally liable for a minimum of $6,125,947.13.  (Id.) 

C. The government and Relator agree that Relator should receive an 18-

percent share under the FCA’s qui tam provisions. 

Pursuant to the FCA’s qui tam provisions, a relator is entitled to a share of the recovery if 

the government intervenes. 31 U.S.C. § 3730. Specifically, Section 3730(d)(1) provides:  

If the Government proceeds with an action brought by a person 

under subsection (b), such person shall, subject to the second 

sentence of this paragraph, receive at least 15 percent but not more 

than 25 percent of the proceeds of the action or settlement of the 

claim, depending upon the extent to which the person substantially 

contributed to the prosecution of the action.  

 

31 U.S.C. § 3730(d)(1). Here, the Government and Relator agree that Relator should receive an 

18-percent share of any recovery collected from ONI and Pfarr. 

V. CONCLUSION 

  For the foregoing reasons, the United States and Relator respectfully request that the 

Court enter default judgment on Count One of the Government’s Complaint against ONI for 

$16,223,091.38, with Pfarr jointly and severally liable for $6,125,947.13.  A proposed order is 

attached. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

      DAVID C. WEISS 

      Acting United States Attorney 

 

     By: /s/ Jennifer L. Hall    

      Jennifer L. Hall (#5122) 

      Laura Hatcher (#5098) 

      Assistant United States Attorneys 

      1007 N. Orange Street, Suite 700 

      Wilmington, Delaware 19801 

      (302) 573-6277   

 

DATED:  January 12, 2018  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I, Kimberly Rechner, an employee in the Office of the United States Attorney for the 

District of Delaware, hereby attest under penalty of perjury that on January 12, 2018, a true copy 

of BRIEF OF UNITED STATES IN SUPPORT OF UNITED STATES’ AND RELATOR’S 

JOINT MOTION FOR DEFAULT JUDGMENT AND TO SET RELATOR’S SHARE was 

electronically filed and was also mailed to the following: 

 

Richard Pfarr 

424 Kings Highway 

Lewes, DE 19958 

 

Orthopaedic and Neuro Imaging LLC 

c/o Richard C. Pfarr, Registered Agent 

424 Kings Highway 

Lewes, DE 19958 

 

Edmund D. Lyons, Esq. 

1526 Gilpin Ave 

Wilmington, DE 19806 

 

Adam Balick, Esq. 

Balick & Balick, LLC 

711 King Street 

Wilmington, DE 19801 

 

 

 

       /s/ Kimberly Rechner    

       Kimberly Rechner 

son 

Inmate #05497-015 

USP Florence-High 

U.S. Penitentiary 7000 

Florence, CO 81226 

Counterclaim Plaint 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

LINITED STATES OF AMERICA, ex rel.
ROBINWHITE,

Civil Action No. 13-1 109-RGA
Plaintiff,

ORTHOPAEDIC AND NEURO
IMAGING LLC, and RICHARD
PFARR.

Defendants

DECLARATION

I, Paul Rich, make the following declaration pursuant to the provisions of 28 U.S.C.

$ 1746:

1. I am a Special Agent with The United States Department of Health and Human

Services, Office oflnspector General, Office of Investigations, Philadelphia Regional Office

(HHS-OIG). Since 201 l, I have investigated fraud against Govemment healthcare programs,

including the Medicare and Medicaid programs. I am a graduate of the Federal Law

Enforcement Training Center's Criminal Investigator Training Program and Special Agent Basic

Training Program. Prior to joining HHS-OIG, I eamed a Bachelor's degree in Chemistry from

Villanova University, and a Juris Doctorate degree from Villanova University School ofLaw.

2. In my capacity as a Special Agent, I participated in an investigation ofwhether

Defendants in the above-captioned action submitted claims to Medicare for contrast magnetic

resonance imaging ("MRI") tests, knowing that those tests were not entitled to be paid by

Medicare. The scope of my investigation included the time period from 2002 through July 21 ,

)
)
)
)

)
)
)
)
)
)

)
)
)

I
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2014, when the investigation became overt. The investigation uncovered no evidence that the

govemment was aware of the conduct alleged in the Relator's Complaint until the United States

Attomey's Office for the District of Delaware was contacted by Relator's counsel in April 2013.

3. In furtherance ofmy investigation, I interviewed numerous witnesses and also

reviewed interview reports authored by other agents. I reviewed Medicare enrollment

applications and other documents submitted to the government by Defendants. I also reviewed

Medicare rules and regulations pertaining to direct supervision of contrast MRI scans, and I

consulted with Medicare representatives regarding the materiality ofthose requirements.

Additionally, I reviewed documents obtained through Civil Investigative Demands issued by the

United States Attomey's Office for the District of Delaware.

4. Consistent with the govemment's Complaint in Intervention (D.I. 29), my

investigation uncovered that, except for a short period of time in 201 2 (described below), ONI

provided no direct supervision ofcontrast MRI procedures performed in its Lewes or Seaford

offices. I interviewed Dr. Robert Craig Platenberg on JuJy 22,2014, regarding his supervision at

those offices in2012. Dr. Platenberg told me that, between approximately February 2012 and

June 2012, he performed direct supervision at ONI's Lewes office on Thursdays and its Seaford

office on Fridays. Dr. Platenberg told me that he lived in Virginia, and that he stayed ovemight

at Defendant Pfarr's house in Delaware during his supervision trips. Dr. Platenberg stopped

providing direct supervision prior to Jrly 2012, after Defendant Pfarr told him that other doctors

were going to "cover" the direct supewision requirement in Lewes and Seaford. Defendant Pfarr

therefore knew that Platenberg was no longer directly supervising as ofJuly 2012.

5. My investigation further uncovered that ONI did not provide direct supervision in

its Millsboro and Salisbury offices during the time period under investigation.

2
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6. As part ofthe investigation, the governrnent obtained Medicare claims data for

claims submitted by ONI between 2003 and 2014. ln addition, the govemment obtained (via

Civil Investigative Demand) ONI's claims data from its third-party billing service, Professional

Management, Inc. A summary of ONI's Medicare claims for unsupervised contrast MRI scans

between July 1, 2003 (ten years prior to the Relator's June 21, 2013 Complaint) and June 30,

2014 (ust before the govemment's investigation went overt) is attached hereto as Attachment 1.

7. As set forth in Attachment 1, between Juty 1,2003 and June 30,2014, excluding

the first two quarters of20l2 (spanning the time period when Dr. Platenberg supervised in

Lewes), ONI filed 1,585 claims with Medicare for contrast MRI procedures performed in its

Lewes offi ce, totaling $995,305.79.

8. As set forth in Attachment 1, between January l, 2005 and June 30,2014,

excluding the first two quarters of 2012 (spanning the time period when Dr. Platenberg

supervised in Seaford), ONI filed 342 claims with Medicare for contrast MRI procedures

performed in its Seaford office, totaling $ 197 ,248.64.

9. As set forth in Attachment 1, between October 1,2008 and June 30,2014, ONI

frled 226 claims with Medicare for contrast MRI procedures performed in its Millsboro office,

totaling $111,995.12.

10. As set forth in Attachment 1, between Apfl 1,2012 and June 30,2014, ONI filed

72 claims with Medicare for contrast MRI procedures performed in its Salisbury office, totaling

$23,980.91.

I l. The total Medicare reimbursements for unsupervised contrast MRI scans at all

ONI locations between July l,2003 and June 30,2014 is $1,328,530.46. When trebled, the total

is $3,985,591,38. The total number of Medicare claims for unsupervised contrast MRI scans all

3
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ONI locations between July 1, 2003 and June 30,2Ol4 is 2,225. When multiplied by $5,500 per

claim, the total is $12,237,500 in civil penalties. The total of treble damages and penalties is

$ 16,223,091.38.

12. In Attachment 2, I performed the same analysis again, but only included Medicare

claims from on, or after, October l, 2010. The total treble damages and penalties using the

October l, 2010 date is $6,125,94'7 .13.

I declare under penalty ofperjury under the laws of the United States of America that the

foregoing is true and correct to the best of my knowledge.

Executed this t t day of ]S".x,g , 2018 at

Agent Paul

4
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ATTACHMENT 1 ‐ MEDICARE REIMBURSEMENTS FOR ONI UNSUPERVISED CONTRAST SERVICES AND MATERIALS
Q3 2003 ‐ Q2 2014

LEWES SEAFORD MILLSBORO SALISBURY
Reimbursements Reimbursements Reimbursements Reimbursements

Year Qtr Claims Services Materials Claims Services Materials Claims Services Materials Claims Services Materials
1st    
2nd    
3rd 20 12,708.21
4th 26 19,004.36
Year 46 31,712.57 0.00 0 0.00 0.00 0 0.00 0.00 0 0.00 0.00
1st 32 24,877.32      
2nd 27 21,980.78
3rd 23 18,845.96
4th 33 29,839.39
Year 115 95,543.45 0.00 0 0.00 0.00 0 0.00 0.00 0 0.00 0.00
1st 39 33,352.43 8 5,737.74
2nd 27 23,556.77 9 7,250.51
3rd 31 29,538.74 9 9,025.82
4th 35 26,999.74 4 3,622.01
Year 132 113,447.68 0.00 30 25,636.08 0.00 0 0.00 0.00 0 0.00 0.00
1st 50 43,109.92 10 9,821.89
2nd 44 40,331.74 9 7,789.93
3rd 34 33,508.22 9 8,042.74
4th 30 27,491.36 3 2,713.98
Year 158 144,441.24 0.00 31 28,368.54 0.00 0 0.00 0.00 0 0.00 0.00
1st 52 28,261.61 15 8,354.64
2nd 40 21,978.65 14 6,903.79
3rd 51 25,325.20 8 3,918.34
4th 44 22,107.09 9 4,925.49
Year 187 97,672.55 0.00 46 24,102.26 0.00 0 0.00 0.00 0 0.00 0.00
1st 44 24,562.75 527.52 8 4,087.18 202.90
2nd 45 24,046.99 1,735.09 8 4,049.00 272.93
3rd 38 18,456.77 1,146.32 7 3,624.66 175.66
4th 28 15,258.85 1,131.89 10 5,082.50 402.88 9 2,075.28 345.33
Year 155 82,325.36 4,540.82 33 16,843.34 1,054.37 9 2,075.28 345.33 0 0.00 0.00
1st 28 15,505.23 958.01 12 4,172.96 319.34 18 6,828.37 488.40
2nd 35 22,677.61 1,378.84 9 5,069.49 325.56 15 8,196.07 612.84
3rd 32 20,321.37 1,318.18 8 4,829.52 263.62 17 8,416.80 612.01
4th 19 9,805.96 613.80 6 2,686.55 186.00 14 6,953.25 465.00
Year 114 68,310.17 4,268.83 35 16,758.52 1,094.52 64 30,394.49 2,178.25 0 0.00 0.00
1st 35 19,659.51 1,258.93 7 3,401.87 203.85 9 4,345.85 251.79
2nd 47 28,957.53 1,643.56 7 3,265.35 250.11 17 9,164.73 607.40
3rd 46 25,215.88 1,389.96 6 2,653.15 137.28 15 7,750.35 444.00
4th 25 13,382.60 868.28 8 4,368.40 283.52 11 5,418.19 354.40
Year 153 87,215.52 5,160.73 28 13,688.77 874.76 52 26,679.12 1,657.59 0 0.00 0.00

2008

2009

2010

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007
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ATTACHMENT 1 ‐ MEDICARE REIMBURSEMENTS FOR ONI UNSUPERVISED CONTRAST SERVICES AND MATERIALS
Q3 2003 ‐ Q2 2014

LEWES SEAFORD MILLSBORO SALISBURY
Reimbursements Reimbursements Reimbursements Reimbursements

Year Qtr Claims Services Materials Claims Services Materials Claims Services Materials Claims Services Materials
1st 29 15,191.74 1,001.30 13 5,153.34 355.80 15 7,390.69 497.90
2nd 33 15,761.68 922.74 8 4,478.75 212.94 12 6,456.08 425.88
3rd 47 24,467.98 1,459.00 10 4,799.12 242.48 19 9,671.12 640.84
4th 43 23,117.97 1,319.00 21 11,718.84 650.94 23 10,406.30 777.78
Year 152 78,539.37 4,702.04 52 26,150.05 1,462.16 69 33,924.19 2,342.40 0 0.00 0.00
1st 4 1,871.24 134.40
2nd 1 426.55 34.18 3 534.00 34.18
3rd 60 30,052.07 1,801.44 18 9,159.83 500.40 12 2,417.08 100.08
4th 36 18,863.51 882.82 8 4,344.52 167.02 21 5,082.74 214.74
Year 96 48,915.58 2,684.26 26 13,504.35 667.42 5 2,297.79 168.58 36 8,033.82 349.00
1st 51 24,113.64 941.64 11 4,824.67 158.94 6 2,941.06 88.30
2nd 60 28,174.54 1,851.94 9 4,138.39 287.37 10 4,930.78 319.30
3rd 42 19,864.73 1,461.14 8 4,194.60 237.86 4 1,482.08 135.92
4th 37 17,499.97 1,038.67 13 5,896.81 213.85 5 2,234.83 61.10
Year 190 89,652.88 5,293.39 41 19,054.47 898.02 0 0.00 0.00 25 11,588.75 604.62
1st 37 11,629.97 989.12 9 2,737.37 278.19 15 4,907.10 432.74 7 2,119.00 216.37
2nd 50 16,853.58 1,406.68 11 3,739.07 336.38 12 4,210.02 382.24 4 977.61 91.74
3rd
4th
Year 87 28,483.55 2,395.80 20 6,476.44 614.57 27 9,117.12 814.98 11 3,096.61 308.11

TOTAL 1,585 966,259.92 29,045.87 342 190,582.82 6,665.82 226 104,487.99 7,507.13 72 22,719.18 1,261.73
995,305.79$          197,248.64$          111,995.12$          23,980.91$           
Lewes total Seaford total Millsboro total Salisbury total

1,328,530.46$       2,225
Reimbursements Total # Claims
(all locations) (all locations)

3,985,591.38$       12,237,500.00$   
Reimbursements # claims x $5,500

x 3 (treble) (penalties)

16,223,091.38$   
treble damages
+ penalties

2014

2011

2012

2013
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ATTACHMENT 2 ‐ MEDICARE REIMBURSEMENTS FOR ONI UNSUPERVISED CONTRAST SERVICES AND MATERIALS
Q4 2010 ‐ Q2 2014

LEWES SEAFORD MILLSBORO SALISBURY
Reimbursements Reimbursements Reimbursements Reimbursements

Year Qtr Claims Services Materials Claims Services Materials Claims Services Materials Claims Services Materials
1st
2nd
3rd
4th 25 13,382.60 868.28 8 4,368.40 283.52 11 5,418.19 354.40
Year 25 13,382.60 868.28 8 4,368.40 283.52 11 5,418.19 354.40 0 0.00 0.00
1st 29 15,191.74 1,001.30 13 5,153.34 355.80 15 7,390.69 497.90
2nd 33 15,761.68 922.74 8 4,478.75 212.94 12 6,456.08 425.88
3rd 47 24,467.98 1,459.00 10 4,799.12 242.48 19 9,671.12 640.84
4th 43 23,117.97 1,319.00 21 11,718.84 650.94 23 10,406.30 777.78
Year 152 78,539.37 4,702.04 52 26,150.05 1,462.16 69 33,924.19 2,342.40 0 0.00 0.00
1st 4 1,871.24 134.40
2nd 1 426.55 34.18 3 534.00 34.18
3rd 60 30,052.07 1,801.44 18 9,159.83 500.40 12 2,417.08 100.08
4th 36 18,863.51 882.82 8 4,344.52 167.02 21 5,082.74 214.74
Year 96 48,915.58 2,684.26 26 13,504.35 667.42 5 2,297.79 168.58 36 8,033.82 349.00
1st 51 24,113.64 941.64 11 4,824.67 158.94 6 2,941.06 88.30
2nd 60 28,174.54 1,851.94 9 4,138.39 287.37 10 4,930.78 319.30
3rd 42 19,864.73 1,461.14 8 4,194.60 237.86 4 1,482.08 135.92
4th 37 17,499.97 1,038.67 13 5,896.81 213.85 5 2,234.83 61.10
Year 190 89,652.88 5,293.39 41 19,054.47 898.02 0 0.00 0.00 25 11,588.75 604.62
1st 37 11,629.97 989.12 9 2,737.37 278.19 15 4,907.10 432.74 7 2,119.00 216.37
2nd 50 16,853.58 1,406.68 11 3,739.07 336.38 12 4,210.02 382.24 4 977.61 91.74
3rd
4th
Year 87 28,483.55 2,395.80 20 6,476.44 614.57 27 9,117.12 814.98 11 3,096.61 308.11

TOTAL 550 258,974 15,944 147 69,554 3,926 112 50,757 3,680 72 22,719 1,262
274,917.75$          73,479.40$            54,437.65$            23,980.91$           
Lewes total Seaford total Millsboro total Salisbury total

426,815.71$          881
Reimbursements Total # Claims
(all locations) (all locations)

1,280,447.13$       4,845,500.00$      
Reimbursements # claims x $5,500

x 3 (treble) (penalties)

6,125,947.13$      
treble damages
+ penalties

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014
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September 23, 2016 

Edmund D. Lyons, Jr., Esq. 
The Lyons Law Firm 
1526 Gilpin Ave. 
Wilmington, DE 19806 

U.S. Department of Justice 

United States Attorney's Office 
District of Delaware 

Nemoun Bllildlng 
1007 Orange Street. Suik 700 
P.O. Bo,: 1046 
Wilmington. Ddawan 19899-1(>16 

Re: Statute of Limitations Tolling Agreement for Richard Pfarr 
and Orthopaedic and Neuro Imaging, LLC 

Dear Mr. Lyons: 

(301) 573-6177 
FAX (301) 573-621Q 

This letter confirms and sets forth an agreement between the Office of the United States 
Attorney for the District of Delaware and your clients, Richard Pfarr and Orthopaedic and Neuro 
Imaging, LLC (hereinafter "your Clients"). The tenns of the agreement are as follows: 

1. As you are aware, this Office is currently conducting an investigation of your
Clients involving allegations that, for the years 2002 through 2014, your Clients submitted 
claims to Medicare for reimbursement for contrast MRI studies that did not qualify for 
reimbursement In addition, this Office is investigating whether your Clients made false 
statements to the government in Medicare forms. Such violations may include, but may not be 
limited to, violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 286,287, 1001, 1035 and 31 U.S.C. § 3729, et seq. 

2. In the course of our discussions, this Office has expressed its intention to afford
you and your Clients the opportunity to provide infonnation to this Office that you deem relevant 
to matters relating to the investigation. In response, you have advised us that you wish to 
engage in discussions with this Office regarding your Clients' conduct. Toward that end, an 
additional time period may be required to prepare materials and gather information. As a result, 
this Office and your Clients have agreed, as more fully set forth below, to toll all applicable 
statutes of limitations for an approximate six-month period, through and including March 23, 
2017, for the conduct described in Paragraph 1. 

3. Your Clients hereby agree that they will not at any time interpose a statute of 
limitations defense that includes the time period from September 23, 2016, through March 23, 
2017, in the calculation of the limitations period as to any indictment, information, or count 
thereof, or civil complaint, or count thereof: or administrative action, which charges your Clients 
with, or alleges your Clients committed, any offense or violation related to the conduct described 

I 
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in Paragraph 1. Similarly, your Clients agree not to plead, argue, or otherwise raise any defense 
based upon pre-indictment delay, !aches, or other similar defenses or time limitations (whether 
constitutional, statutory, or otherwise) based upon delay that includes the time period from 
September 23, 2016, through March 23, 2017, as part of the defense. By entering into this 
tolling agreement, your Clients do not admit any liability in connection with any matter and 
reserve their rights to raise any and all defenses, except as limited by this paragraph. 

4. Your Clients enter into this agreement knowingly and volwitarily. Your Clients
acknowledge that the applicable statutes of limitations and the United States Constitution 
regarding prejudicial pre-indictment delay confer benefits on them, that your Clients are not 
required to waive those benefits, and that your Clients are doing so after consulting with you 
because your Clients believe it is in your Clients' best interest to do so. Your Clients also 
acknowledge your Clients' understanding that your Clients may be charged with the foregoing 
offenses or violations and/or any other offenses or violations in a criminal, civil, or 
administrative action at any time prior to and including March 23, 2017. Your Clients further 
acknowledge your Clients' tmderstanding that your Clients may be charged with any violations 
for conduct not specifically described above in a at any time during the relevant statute of 
limitations period. 

5. This agreement relates only to the conduct referred to in Paragraph 1 above. This
writing contains the entire agreement between this Office and your Clients and can be modified 
or supplemented only by means of a writing signed by this Office and your Clients. 

If your Clients are willing to enter into this agreement on the terms set forth above, you 
and your Clients should indicate the same by signing below. Please return an executed original 
to me by Friday, September 30, 2016. 

Very truly yours, 

Zyo�7fo.-� �0111
�

rufd:! C. f � :.frP 
(Individually and on behalf of 
Orthopaedic and Neuro 
Imaging, LLC) 
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U.S. Departr.rent of Justice

United States Attorney's O.ffice
District of Delaware

Nemours Building
1007 Orotge Street, Suite 700
P.O. Box 2046
lili lminglon, Delaware I 9899-2046

(302) s7s-6277
FAX (302) 573-6220

March 10,2017

Edmund D. Lyons, Jr., Esq.
The Lyons Law Firm
1(.)4 flilnin A"oa . rt v.

Wilmington, DE 19806

i,.r ilvED
I'IAR I 4

-THE LYOT{8 IAW FIRfdI
EDMUfVD D. LYONg, 

",R.Re: Statute of Limitations Tolling Agreement for Richard Pfarr
and Orthopaedic and Neuro lmaging. LLC

Dear Mr. Lyons:

This letter confirms and sets forth an agreement between the Office of the United States
Attorney for the District of Delaware and your clients, Richard Pfarr and Orthopaedic and Neuro
Imaging, LLC (hereinafter "your Clients"). The terms of the agreement are as follows.

1. As you are aware, this Office is currently conducting an investigation of your
Clients involving allegations that, for the years 2002 through2014, your Clients submitted
claims to Medicare for reimbursement for contrast MRI studies that did not qualify for
reimbursement. In addition, this Office is investigating whether your Clients made false
statements to the government in Medicare forms. Such violations may include, but may not be
limited to, violations of l8 U.S.C. $ti 286, 287, 1001,1035 and 3l U.S.C. 5 3729, et seq.

2. In the course of our discussions, the Office and your Clients previously entered
into a tolling agreement dated September 23,2016. This Office has expressed its intention to
afford you and your Clients an additional opportunity to provide information to this Office that
iou deem relevant to matters relating to the investigation. In response, you have advised us that
you wish to engage in discussions with this Office regarding your Clients' conduct. Toward
that end, an additional time period may be required to prepare materials and gather information.
As a result, this Office and your Clients have agreed, as more fully set forth below, to toll all
applicable statutes of limitations for an additional approximate six-month period, through and
including September 22,2017, for the conduct described in Paragraph l.

3. Your Clients hereby agree that they will not at any time interpose a statute of
limitations defense that includes the time period from March23,2017 through September 22,
2017, in the calculation of the limitations period as to any indictment, information, or count
thereof, or civil complaint, or count thereof, or administrative action, which charges your Clients

I
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with, or alleges your Clients commiffed, any offense or violation related to the conduct described
in Paragraph 1. Similarly, your Clients agree not to plead, argue, or otherwise raise any defense
based upon pre-indictment delay, laches, or other similar defenses or time limitations (whether
constitutional, statutory, or otherwise) based upon delay that includes the time period from
March 23,2017 through September 22,2017, as part of the defense. By entering into this
tolling agreement, your Clients do not admit any liability in connection with any matter and
reserve their rights to raise any and all defenses, except as limited by this paragraph.

1. Yo,l- Clients enter itto this agreement knowingly and voluntariiy. Your Clients
acknowledge that the applicable statutes of limitations and the United States Constitution
regarding prejudicial pre-indictment delay confer benefits on them, that your Clients are not
required to waive those benefits, and that your Clients are doing so after consulting with you
because your Clients believe it is in your Clients' best interest to do so. Yow Clients also
acknowledge your Clients' understanding that your Clients may be charged with the foregoing
offenses or violations and/or any other offenses or violations in a criminal, civil, or
administrative action at any time prior to and including September 22,2017 . Your Clients
further acknowledge your Clients' understanding that your Clients may be charged with any
violations for conduct not specifically described above in Paragraph I at any time during the
relevant statute of limitations period.

5. This agreement relates only to the conduct referred to in Paragraph I above. This
writing, and the tolling agreement dated September 23,2016, contain the entire agreement
between this Office and your Clients and can be modified or supplemented only by means of a
writing signed by this Office and your Clients.

If your Clients are willing to enter into this agreement on the terms set forth above, you
and your Clients should indicate the same by signing below. Please return an executed original
to me by Wednesday, March 15,2017.

Very truly yours,

CHARLES }vi. OBERLY, iii
United States Attorney

By:/s/ Jennifer L. Hall
Jennifer L. Hall
Assistant U. S. Attornev

(Individually and on behalf of
Orthopaedic and Neuro
Imaging, LLC)

2
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U.S. Department of Justice

Llnited Srutes Attorne..vb OlJice
District o.f Delmuare

Nemours Building
1007 Orange Sn'eet, Silite 7{)0

P.O. Bot 2016
Il/i lmington, De lay, are I 989 9 - 2 016

September 18,2017

Edrnund D. Lyons, Jr., Esq.
The Lyons Law Firm
1526 Gilpin Ave.
Wilmington, DE 19806

Re: Statute of Lirnitations Tolling Agreement fbr Richard Pfarr
i

'i... Dear Mr. Lyons:

This letter confinns and sets forth an agreement betw-een the Office of the United States

Attomey for the District of Delaware and your clients, Richard Pfarr and Orthopaedic and Neuro
Imaging, LLC (hereinafter "your Clients"). The terms of the agreement are as follows:

I . As you are aware: this Office is currently conducting an investigation of your
Clients involving allegations that, for the years 2002 through 2014, your Clients subrnitted
claims to Medicare for reirnbursement for contrast MRI studies that did not qualifu for
reimbursement. In addition, this Office is investigating whether your Clients rnade false
statements to the government in Medicare forrns. Such violations may include. but lnay not be

lirnitedto. violations of l8 U.S.C. $S 286,287, 1001, 1035 and 31 U.S.C. $ 3729, et,seq.

2. ln the course of our discussions, the Off-rce and your Clients previously entelecl

into tolling agreeiments dated September 23. 2016 and March l0,2017. This Office has

expressed its intention to atford you and your Clients an additional opportunity to provide
intbmation to this Office that you deem relevant to matters relating to the investi.eation. In

' ' respbrise. you have advised us ihat you wish to engage in discussions with this Offrce regarding
your Clients' conduct. Torvard that end, an additional time period may be reqr.rired to prepare

materials and gather infonnation. As a result, this Office and your Clients have agreed, as more
fully set fofth belorv, to toll all applicable statutes of limitations for an additional approximate
hvo-week period, through and including October 6, ?017, for the conduct described in Paragraph
L

3. Your Clients hereby agree that they will not at any tirne interpose a statute of
lirnitations defense that includes the time period from September 22,2017 through October 6,
2017, in the calculation of the limitations period as to any indictment, information. or corult

(302) 57-t-6277
F,LY (302) 57-]-6220
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thereoi or civil cornplaint, or count thereof, or administrative action, which charges your Clients
with, or alleges your Clients committed, any offense or violation related to the conduct described
in Paragraph l. Similarly, your Clients agree not to plead, argue. or otherwise raise any defbnse

based upon pre-indictment delay, laches, or other similar defenses or time limitations (whether

constitutional. statutory, or otherwise) based upon delay that includes the time period frorn
September 22,2017 through October 6.2017, as paft of the defbnse. By entering into this
tolling agreement. your Clients do not admit any liability in connection with any matter and
reserve their rights to raise any and all defenses. except as limited by this paragraph.

4. Your Clients enter into this agreement knowingly and voluntarily. Yourr Clients
acknowledge that the applicable statutes of limitations and the United States Constitution
regarding prejudicial pre-indictrnent delay confer benefits on them, that your Clients are not
required to waive those benefits, and that your Clients are doing so after consulting with you
because your Clients believe it is in your Clients' best interest to do so. Your Clients also
acknowledge your Clients' understanding that your Clients rnay be charged with the foregoing
offenses or violations and/or any other offenses or violations in a criminal, civil, or
adrninistrative action at any time prior to and including October 6,2017 . Your Clients further
acknowledge your Clients' understanding that your Clients may be charged with any violations
for coriduct not specifically described above in Paragraph I at any time during the relevant
stalute Of limitations period.

' 5. This agreement relates only to the conduct referred to in Paragraph I above. This
yitiirg. and the tolling agreements dated September 23, 2016 and March I 0. 20 I 7. contain the
entire'agreement between this Office and your Clients anC can be modified or supplemented only
by means of a writing signed by this Office and your Clients.

If your C.lients are willing to enter into this agreement on the terms set forth above, you
gr1d youi Clients'should indicate the sarne by signing below. Please retum an executed original
tq me by COB Wednesday, September 20,2017.

Very truly yours,

DAVID C. WEISS
Acting United States Attorney

By: /s/ Jennifer L. Hall
Jennifer L. Hall
Assistant U.S. Attorney

Richard Pfarr ,,
(Individually and on behalf of
Orthopaedic and Neuro
hnaging, LLC)

Date:
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thereof, or civil complaint, or count thereof, or administrative action, which charges your Clients
with, or alleges your Clients committed, any offense or violation related to the conduct described
in Paragraph 1. Similarly, your Clients agree not to plead, argue, or otherwise raise any defense
based upon pre-indictment delay, laches, or other similar defenses or time limitations (whether
constitutional, statutory, or otherwise) based upon delay that includes the time period from
September 22,2017 through October 6,2017, as part of the defense. By entering into this
tolling agreement, your Clients do not admit any liability in connection with any matter and
reserve their rights to raise any and all defenses, except as limited by this paragraph.

4. Your Clients enter into this agreement knowingly and voluntarily. Your Clients
acknowledge that the applicable statutes of limitations and the United States Constitution
regarding prejudicial pre-indictment delay confer benefits on them, that your Clients are not
required to waive those benefits, and that your Clients are doing so after consulting with you
because your Clients believe it is in your Clients' best interest to do so. Your Clients also
acknowledge your Clients' understanding that your Clients may be charged with the foregoing
offenses or violations and/or any other offenses or violations in a criminal, civil, or
administrative action at any time prior to and including October 6,2017. Your Clients further
acknowledge your Clients' understanding that your Clients may be charged with any violations
for conduct not specifically described above in Paragraph 1 at any time during the relevant
statute of limitations period.

5. This agreement relates only to the conduct referred to in Paragraph I above. This
writing, and the tolling agreements dated September 23,2016 and March 10,2017, contain the
entire agreement between this Office and your Clients and can be modified or supplemented only
by means of a writing signed by this Office and your Clients.

If your Clients are willing to enter into this agreement on the terms set forth above, you
and your Clients should indicate the same by signing below. Please retum an executed original
to me by COB Wednesday, September 20,2017.

Very truly yours,

DAVID C. WEISS
Acting United States Attorney

By: /s/ Jennifer L. Hall
Jennifer L. Hall
Assistant U.S. Attorney

Edmund D. Lyons, Jr., Esq. Date:

(Individually and on behalf of
Orthopaedic and Neuro
Imaging, LLC)
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